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IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS 

COUNTY DEPARTMENT - LAW DIVISION 

 

CHAD READEY,     ) 

) 

  Plaintiff,   )  

      ) 

 v.     )   

      )  Case No. __________________ 

TAMARA N. HOLDER and   ) 

THE LAW FIRM OF TAMARA N.  )  

HOLDER, LLC,    ) 

      ) 

      ) 

  Defendants.   ) 

 

COMPLAINT 

 

Plaintiff, CHAD READEY, by and through his attorneys, Nesenoff & Miltenberg, LLP 

and Elvis Gonzalez, Ltd., for his complaint against Defendants, TAMARA N. HOLDER and THE 

LAW FIRM OF TAMARA N. HOLDER, LLC, states as follows: 

INTRODUCTION 

1. This action arises out of Defendant Tamara Holder’s false claims against a male 

college athlete, representing her, and many others’ toxic beliefs about NCAA Division I male 

student athletes across the country. Holder falsely claims and advances her gender-biased view in 

the very first paragraph in her frivolous lawsuit against Plaintiff that there is a pattern of male 

student athletes “hid[ing] behind their elite schools and proud parents as they sexually abuse 

women.” Although Holder sets out to advance this fallacy for her professional gain under the guise 

of defending women’s rights by spreading and encouraging lies against Plaintiff, her statement 

could not be further from the truth. The reality is, Plaintiff Chad Readey, as well as many other 

male student-athletes across the country, was subjected to false claims of sexual assault solely for 

revenge and for the sake of ruining his career. The cycle and stereotypes must stop now.   
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2. The Defendant – a lawyer named Tamara Holder – has now twice defamed a 20-

year-old college athlete and former top student in his high school: Chad Readey.  And she has 

done so for personal gain under the false auspices of advancing women’s rights. 

3. More specifically, in January 2023, Holder filed a lawsuit against Readey, and in 

so doing, she falsely stated – separate from filing the complaint – that Readey had sexually 

assaulted a former high school classmate and six other women.  Holder’s statements were 

false.  Readey never sexually assaulted anyone, let alone six women.  No one, and definitely not 

“more than six women,” as Holder falsely stated, had ever accused Readey of sexual assault. 

4. In fact, the young woman who initially led others in the smear campaign to make 

similar false statements against Readey fully retracted her statements and apologized to Readey. 

Exhibit 1. 

5. Holder’s first lawsuit against Readey was previously dismissed for want of 

prosecution. Exhibit 2. 

6. Then, in August 2023, Holder doubled down and filed a second lawsuit, this one 

against Northwestern University (“Northwestern” or “NU”), claiming Readey “raped” former 

lacrosse player Jane Doe1, and NU did nothing to prevent it. Exhibit 3. 

7. Holder’s – and Doe’s – accusations are 100% false, and they know they are false. 

8. Doe and Readey had a brief, consensual sexual encounter wholly initiated by Doe.  

If anything, Doe took advantage of Readey, as her own text messages to Readey make 

clear.  Exhibit 4.   

9. Specifically, in July 2022, after inviting Readey over to watch a movie with her, 

Doe, who is bisexual, initiated sexual contact with him. Immediately afterward she had the 

following text exchange with him: 

 
1 Jane Doe is a pseudonym. Plaintiff reserves the right to reveal Jane Doe’s true identity if 

subsequent media concerning Plaintiff is continued. 
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Doe: “That was a fucked up mistake and I told [my girlfriend], just giving u a heads up.  I 

should’ve never given you the idea that that was ok I genuinely have never regretted 

anything more in my life.  You don’t have to tell [your girlfriend] but just letting u know I 

told my girlfriend.”  Id. 

 

Readey: “I talked to [my girlfriend].”  Id. 

 

Doe: “ok well it’s fucked and tell [your girlfriend] I’m so sorry and I don’t know whether 

it’s bc I was a weird high or just super anxious but I’m so fucking sorry.”  Id. 

 

10. As Doe’s texts make clear, she initiated the consensual encounter, said it was her 

idea, and apologized to Readey for it. 

11. Doe then waited six months to report her alleged complaint to NU (and did so only 

once Holder defamed Plaintiff on her website) and then another seven months to sue NU (after a 

recent spat of unrelated suits against NU were filed). 

12. To be clear: Readey is a victim, not an abuser of any sort.  All the allegations against 

him are false.  When his initial defamers made their false allegations, the ensuing investigation 

fully exonerated Readey.  What has happened to Readey is an orchestrated conspiracy to destroy 

a young man’s life.  The ringleader of the conspiracy is now Tamara Holder.2 

13. One of the original ringleaders who orchestrated the campaign in 2020 to try to 

keep Readey out of Northwestern retracted her false statements a year later and apologized to 

Readey in writing. 

14. But when Readey defended himself, another ringleader – Katelyn Nottke – texted 

Readey, stating “don’t worry I’ll make sure you never have a happy day in your life”:  

 
2 Readey reserves the right to amend his complaint to add Holder’s co-conspirators, including other 

lawyers who have filed and maintained frivolous lawsuits against Readey and fed confidential 

student records to Holder in violation of court protective orders, as well as those who have worked 

with and fed Holder false information. 
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15. The tragic irony is that Readey is being victimized by false claims made by people 

supposedly championing women’s rights. 

16. Given Defendants’ persistence in making demonstrably false, damning, and 

defamatory statements – despite clear access to the evidentiary record disproving any sexual 

impropriety – Plaintiff is left with no choice but to bring this action to defend his reputation so the 

public can finally have access to the truth instead of Defendants’ vindictive campaign of lies. 

17. Though this complaint is about Chad Readey, it is sadly about issues much larger 

than Chad Readey.  It is about Truth.  It is about manipulation of vulnerable young people by 

adults with other agendas.  It is a cautionary tale, especially for high-profile male student-athletes 

across the country subjected to false allegations.  
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PARTIES 

18. Plaintiff Chad Readey (“Readey”) is a resident of the Village of Flossmoor, in Cook 

County, Illinois.  

19. Defendant Tamara N. Holder (“Holder”) is a resident of Cook County, Illinois, who 

committed the actions alleged in this Complaint in Cook County, Illinois. 

20. Defendant Law Firm of Tamara N. Holder, LLC, is Defendant Holder’s law 

practice, located at 917 W. Washington Blvd., Suite 222, Chicago, Illinois, Cook County, Illinois. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

21. As a court of general jurisdiction, the Court has subject matter jurisdiction over the 

instant dispute. 

22. Pursuant to 735 ILCS § 5/2-209(a)(1), (2), and/or (b)(1), (2), and (4), the Court has 

personal jurisdiction over the Defendants. 

23. Pursuant to 735 ILCS § 5/2-101, venue is proper because Cook County is each 

Defendant’s “county of residence” and/or “the county in which the transaction or some part thereof 

occurred out of which the cause of action arose.” 

 

FACTS 

24. The facts of this case stem from events in high school when Readey was a minor. 

25. Readey is a May 2021 graduate of Homewood-Flossmoor Community High School 

(“HF”), where he excelled both in the classroom – graduating first in his class of 707 students – 

and on the field. 

26. While a student at HF, Readey was enrolled in the selective and rigorous 

International Baccalaureate (“IB”) Program, recognized as a program for the school’s highest 

academic performers. 
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27. As an athlete, Readey started off as a highly touted basketball prospect.  He was 

the first HF player in more than a decade to play varsity basketball as a freshman.  As a sophomore, 

he earned a varsity baseball spot, which became the sport he ultimately prioritized. 

28. In the IB Program, Readey faced some resentment and envy because of his 

scholastic standing combined with his athletic prowess, as no other IB students excelled in sports 

and the classroom as Readey did. 

Readey’s Sophomore Year: The Non-Complaint 3 

 

29. In December 2018, during his sophomore year, Readey tore ligaments in his ankle 

and was on crutches in the heart of winter. 

30. As such, to get between the north and south buildings at HF, he rode a small, 

handicap-access bus between periods while rehabbing. 

31. One student, Aria Sline, a friend from junior high, repeatedly asked Chad if she 

could carry his books and ride the bus with him the short ride between buildings.  She had actually 

been lobbying to do it for weeks to replace a former girlfriend of Readey’s, who was his usual 

helper when riding the bus during this two-month period.  Sline was not in the IB Program. 

32. For weeks Readey declined her offer to “help” him with his books. 

33. But then one time, Readey agreed. 

34. So on one December day, on the small bus for the roughly two minute ride between 

buildings, it was just Sline, Readey, and the bus driver on the small bus.  Readey and Sline were 

both 15-years-old at the time. 

35. As Sline would later admit to HF investigators, she had a “flirting” relationship 

with Readey at the time, stemming from their days in junior high. More to the point, she liked him. 

 
3 The quotes come from the HF investigatory file, which for confidentiality purposes is not 

attached hereto as an exhibit, but which has been produced in related litigation. 
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36. So when they rode the bus this one day together, Sline, as she often did, flirted with 

Readey.  In response, Readey “touched her shoulder and breast.” 

37. As Sline would tell investigators one year later, “they had been friends and had 

been joking around when this happened.” She also told investigators that when it happened, “she 

said no and he stopped and then it didn’t happen again.” Readey claimed and told HF investigators 

at the time that she instead said: “no, not here.”   

38. However characterized, it was a momentary, innocuous encounter between two 

adolescent friends.  It was so innocuous that Sline told no one and reported nothing at the time. 

39. In fact, Sline never made a complaint. 

40. Instead, thirteen months later, one of her IB friends reported the incident as part of 

a broader complaint about tension between boys and girls in the IB Program. 

Readey’s Junior Year: Tension Withing the IB Program 

 

41. During the 2019-2020 school year, Readey’s junior year, a feud intensified between 

a group of IB girls (the “IB Girls”) and IB boys (the “IB Boys”) within the IB Program.  The IB 

Girls accused the IB Boys of making derogatory and misogynistic comments, primarily related to 

class rankings and college admissions. 

42. As the female dean of students described in an email she wrote contained in the 

investigative file: “from the onset, the IB incident was never presented to me as a sexual 

harassment concern by the administration, the IB coordinator, nor the students.  It was, however, 

suggested that there was ‘gender tension’ among the junior IB cohort and the directive I was given 

was to conference with the students with the objective of creating a resolve.”   

43. The tension came to a head in January 2020 with administrators holding peace 

circles and interviewing students. 

44. At the time the IB Girls tried to recruit Readey to help their campaign to “ruin the 

college admissions files” for the targeted boys by launching a disciplinary investigation by HF 
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administrators, but Readey steadfastly refused to participate, as the IB Program was small and 

Readey wanted no involvement in any such drama, especially against classmates with whom he 

was friendly. 

45. After Readey refused to participate or take sides, one IB girl – Katelyn Nottke – 

then created and reported to the HF administration Sline’s “sexual assault” experience on the bus 

from one year prior. Sline was brought into the administration office to make a statement, but Sline 

said that nothing further needed to be done regarding the alleged incident.  

46. Nottke and Sline were close friends. 

47. In fact, starting in high school, Nottke and Sline co-hosted a feminist podcast called 

(f)embolden. See https://www.listennotes.com/podcasts/fembolden-aria-sline-and-katelyn-nottke-

LE9B0Nc4356/)  

48. Prior to this, Nottke had made numerous claims of sexual assault and sexual 

harassment against fellow students over the years.  It was her calling card.  In junior high she made 

a report against one student that resulted in the student being severely disciplined.  As a person 

experienced in making allegations, Nottke knew the power of making such serious allegations and 

how simply an allegation can so disrupt a person’s life. 

49. A few weeks prior to Nottke reporting Sline’s “sexual assault” to HF 

administration, she had also reported to Readey that she had been “raped” by Sline’s twin brother, 

Ari Sline. When Readey learned of the allegations, he confronted Ari Sline, but Ari denied the 

allegations.  

50. At the time, Nottke also tried to recruit another female student – AR – to get her to 

say Readey sexually assaulted her, but because it was false, AR refused to participate in Nottke’s 

scheme. 
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51. Taking all allegations seriously, HF school administrators interviewed Sline as part 

of the IB investigation.  During her interview, Sline admitted to having a “flirting” relationship 

with Readey, and she did not say he “grabbed” her breast. 

52. Nor has Readey ever “admitted” to “grabbing” Sline’s breast (which would have 

been over her bra, shirt, and winter jacket).  This false statement was first made by Holder’s co-

counsel – David Fish – who falsely first asserted it in a pleading in Readey’s case against Victoria 

Olaleye, one of Fish’s clients.  Holder now takes her co-counsel’s false statement from another 

case and repeats it both in her lawsuit against NU and outside the complaint she filed. 

53. At the time, January 2020, after interviewing students and conducting due 

diligence, HF administrators did not indicate any characterization by Sline of this one-time 

incident from a year prior as sexual assault or harassment. 

54. Other than Sline sharing her long-delayed, momentary bus experience prompted by 

Nottke’s urging, no other student at the time reported or claimed any improper sexual contact by 

Readey. 

55. Most of the HF administrators’ investigation of the tensions within the IB program 

focused on other students, not Readey. 

56. As a result, Readey (rightly) received no disciplinary action.  Other than some 

tardies and absences marked in his student file, Readey had no blemishes or offenses in his file. 

Exhibit 5. 

Readey’s Senior Year: Northwestern Recruits him for Baseball and Mob Turns on Readey 

 

57. Though a talented athlete in both baseball and basketball, Readey ultimately 

devoted himself to baseball.  During the summer of 2020, between his junior and senior years 

(during Covid), Northwestern recruited him for baseball, offering him a scholarship.   

58. Given NU’s stellar academics and Big 10 athletics, Readey immediately and 

happily accepted the offer.  All his hard work had finally paid off, his dream realized. 
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59. But his joy lasted less than a day. 

60. As is common, Readey proudly announced his recruitment and commitment to NU 

on social media, the main way to communicate in what was still the early stages of the pandemic.  

He did so on August 15, 2020.  Exhibit 6. 

61. But the resentment certain classmates still harbored towards Readey led to another 

targeted campaign of malicious smears against him, this time aimed at NU administrators and staff 

for the express purpose of getting NU to rescind its admission of Readey.  

62. The next day, on August 17, 2020, approximately eight individuals emailed or 

otherwise sent written communications to senior officials at NU encouraging them to reverse 

Readey’s acceptance and stating Readey was a “serial sexual abuser.” Exhibit 7. 

63. It was an orchestrated – somewhat clumsy – campaign, as all the emails were sent 

the same day with some language cut and pasted.  The emails were sent to the admissions office, 

the baseball coach, and even to the then university president (Morton Schapiro). 

64. The email campaign was led by former classmate, AV. 

65. AV was actually one year ahead of Readey at HF.  She had recently graduated, 

meaning when she sent her email to NU in August 2020, she was about to commence her freshman 

year of college. 

66. AV was the first to write NU, sending an email just after midnight on August 17, 

2020 to NU’s admissions office.  In her email, AV falsely wrote: “You recently admitted Chad 

Readey, a student from Homewood Flossmoor to pursue his academic college career at 

Northwestern.  I would like to bring it to your attention that this student has sexually assaulted 

multiple women during his middle school and high school career.  I experienced this firsthand 

when I was 12 years old but never reported it because I was unaware of what sexual assault even 

was at the time.  Last school year, over 6 girls went to the school administration SEPERATELY 
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[sic] to report their own sexual assault experiences against Chad.  He admitted to everything, but 

did not receive any repercussions for his repeated sexual assaults against several girls.”  Id.  

67. AV sent the exact same email to three different NU officials: one from her own 

email account, one from her Instagram account and one from an account bearing the names of her 

mother and older sister.  In so doing, she even misspelled “SEPERATELY” identically in all 3 

messages. Exhibit 8. 

68. In Holder’s recent complaint against NU, Holder lazily cuts and pastes the AV 

emails and claims that AV’s mother was Readey’s “classmate.” Exhibit 3 at ¶ 30. 

69. Holder’s pleading shows the carelessness and frivolity of the complaint she filed, 

unknowing and uncaring of what the actual facts are. 

70. One year later, in August 2021, AV would retract everything she wrote: “I write 

this letter as a formal retraction of a false statement I made to Northwestern University, and others, 

about Chad Readey.”  Exhibit 1.  She continued:  

On August 17, 2020, shortly after learning of Chad Readey’s early admission to 

Northwestern’s Class of 2025, I sent an email to Northwestern alleging that Chad 

Readey had been accused of sexually assaulting “more than six” female students at 

Homewood Flossmoor High School (HFHS), and that Chad Readey had “admitted” 

to these allegations.  I made this claim based on information I received from another 

student and classmate of Chad Readey at HFHS.  I have since come to learn that 

these allegations are false. NO students at HFHS had alleged that Chad Readey had 

sexually assaulted them, and Chad Readey DID NOT admit to sexually assaulting 

anyone. I have recently come to learn that, in fact, HFHS conducted what it 

considered to be an “exhaustive” investigation and found no evidence of conduct 

by Chad Readey considered sexual harassment or sexual assault. Unfortunately, 

prior to sending my email to Northwestern, I also shared its contents with some 

friends. The result was that others also sent similar emails to Northwestern based 

on the same false information.  Though I did not post it, my false statement also 

ended up on a Twitter account called “@NUPredators.”  All this has hurt Chad and 

threatens to put him in a false light when he  joins the Northwestern community 

this fall.  The purpose of this letter is to take responsibility for my actions, and to 

demand that “@NUPredators” immediately and permanently remove the post of 

my August 17, 2020, email to Northwestern University.  . . . It was never my 

intention to spread false information, or to cause harm based on incorrect facts. , , , 

I apologize for any harm that may have resulted from my original statement. 
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71. AV was the ringleader for the group that would send approximately nine 

(seemingly) separate emails to NU that day seeking to ruin Readey’s life.  Specifically, she shared 

her email with others as the “sample,” encouraging others to follow her lead. Exhibit 9. 

72. AV encouraged others to write.  And they did.   

73. For instance, Victoria Olaleye, a classmate (not in the IB program), wrote to NU’s 

President Morton Schapiro: “As someone who has gone to school with him for 7 years now, I 

don’t think that this is the smartest nor [sic] safest decision you all can make.  Chad Readey has a 

horrible and long record of sexually harassing and sexually abusing girls.  The list of names is 

unfortunately very long.”  Exhibit 7. 

74. Likewise, Camille Willis, another classmate, wrote to NU: “Hi! I’m Camille and I 

go to school and have gone to school with Chad since seventh grade. In the time I’ve known him 

I’ve talked with many girls who tell similar stories of being sexually assaulted by him. We’ve gone 

to our school administrators but he’s never gotten more than a slap on the wrist. I just wanted to 

make sure you all were aware of the type of person you’re admitting.” 

75. Another wrote: “My concern is centered about a student named Chad Readey, who 

attends Homewood Flossmoor High School – located in Flossmoor, Illinois.  He was recently 

accepted and committed to the university’s baseball program, but I believe his student status as a 

student should be reconsidered because of his past actions.  According to his own admittance 

several months prior, Readey sexually assaulted a peer within his community.  Knowing 

Northwestern’s values and commitment to academia and scholarship, I beg that an investigation 

is launched into his actions, the accusations bade [sic] against him, and his personal admittance of 

fault.”  Id. 

76. But none of the people who blast emailed NU ever had made or filed a complaint 

of any sort against Readey to HFHS.  
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77. Moreover, the campaign was so amateurish – but effective – that the defamers cut 

and pasted many of the same allegations. 

NU and HF Further Investigate: “No evidence supports the allegations.” 

 

78. The targeted email campaign worked.  It immediately grabbed NU administrators’ 

attention. Within days, NU administrators and the baseball coach contacted HF for more 

information.  NU was rightly concerned and internally debated how to handle the situation and 

whether to rescind its recruitment of Readey.   

79. To suggest, as Defendant Holder and her client Doe now do in their (frivolous) 

lawsuit, that NU somehow failed to take the allegations seriously or looked the other way is utterly 

false.  The record makes clear that NU took the allegations very seriously. 

80. As a result of the NU email campaign AV orchestrated, HF conducted another 

investigation, including re-interviewing students and teachers.  Like NU, HF took the allegations 

very seriously. 

81. In its additional investigation, HF noted that “eight current and former students sent 

emails and made social media posts directed at Northwestern alleging . . . Chad Readey has a 

history of sexual assault and sexual harassment that has been reported to HF, but has not been 

addressed.”  Exhibit 10.  None of the eight students who contacted NU had previously made any 

complaints, let alone sexual complaints, against Readey. 

82. The letter HF sent to Readey’s parents states: “After concluding our exhaustive 

search, the District has no record that substantiates the claims made by the women who contacted 

Northwestern.”  Id.  The letter states “none of the specific allegations of harassment in the IB 

program were against Chad.  The women did raise more specific allegations against two other male 

students in the group.”  Id. 

83. HF reinvestigated the Sline bus incident from Chad’s sophomore year as well.  Id.  

In so doing, HF re-confirmed it had all the information it originally received regarding Readey, 
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and no new information regarding Readey, and that no sexual assault of any sort had taken place, 

but HF did acknowledge receiving additional information relating to other students.  Id. 

84. In the end, the HF Title IX Officers wrote: “after a thorough and exhaustive 

investigation, we have no evidence that supports the allegations made by current and former 

students to Northwestern regarding Chad.  None of the incidents that were reported were 

considered sexual harassment or sexual assault by the administrators investigating.”  Id. 

85. Even so, Northwestern investigated further on its own, including speaking with 

HF’s principal (a woman named Dr. Jerry Anderson), as well as even administrators at Readey’s 

junior high school. 

86. To its credit, Northwestern followed the evidence and facts – not false allegations 

made by a mob hoping to destroy a person’s life – and allowed the truth to prevail and thus 

maintained its commitment to Readey, the athlete and top student. 

87. Unfortunately, however, the classmates’ harassment and cyberbullying of Readey 

continued and worsened for the remainder of his senior year. Exhibit 11. And sadly, in today’s 

digital world, youthful mistruths spread across the internet may have life-lasting implications and 

effects. 

88. In the coming months, Readey’s family discovered more and more defamatory 

comments across the internet – memorializing vicious falsehoods for the entire internet.  

89. Readey’s family even attempted to have the HF administration hold mediations 

with the other classmates’ parents, with the hope that their differences could be resolved and the 

defamatory internet postings could be taken down and/or retracted. Most of the parents declined. 

90. Just before seniors graduate each spring, HF students have a tradition called “Last 

Night as a Viking” where students re-live memories of their time together on social media with 

common hashtags.  In recent years, the tradition has become ugly and mean-spirited.  In spring 

FI
LE

D
 D

AT
E:

 8
/2

8/
20

23
 3

:5
1 

PM
   

20
23

L0
08

66
1



 

15 

2021, for Readey’s “Last Night a Viking,” he was further defamed.  Specifically, through 

anonymous posts like:  

 

Because Harassment of Readey Continues, He Files Defamation Lawsuit 

91. Readey and his family had hoped that with students graduating and starting new 

lives – along with a ringleader having retracted her false statements – that things would be different 

when he began at Northwestern.  They hoped the false statements would finally stop.   

92. But unfortunately, the defamation did not stop.  Anonymous trolls continued to post 

statements. Even before he enrolled at NU, Readey faced questions from his new classmates and 

teammates.  Though it was difficult, he tried to walk tall believing the truth is what matters and 

will prevail. 

93. On July 1, 2022, after his freshman year, because many of his defamers still failed 

to retract their defamatory statements and AV’s words could not be removed from the 

@NUPredators post on Twitter, Readey finally fought back and defended his name by filing a 

defamation lawsuit against some of his defamers. Indeed, the @NUPredators post had been made 

on August 19, 2020, and efforts to remove the post have been unsuccessful, even after AV’s full 

retraction of her statement.  

94. But filing the lawsuit led to further harassment and threats made by some of his 

defamers, as they doubled down after being exposed for their actions. 
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95. On July 29, 2022, when her friends were served as defendants and Nottke learned 

of the lawsuit, Nottke immediately texted Readey instructing him to “committ [sic] suicide” and 

stating, “don’t worry i’ll make sure you never have a happy day in your life”. 

96. On September 6, 2022, two months after Readey filed his lawsuit, Aria Sline – who 

was not named as a defendant in the lawsuit – also reappeared.  She provided an affidavit in the 

case in support of her former friend and classmate, Victoria Olaleye, who was named as a 

defendant in Readey’s defamation suit (defended by David Fish, Holder’s co-counsel in her NU 

lawsuit). Exhibit 12. 

97. In her affidavit, Sline contradicted her prior statements and claimed Readey was a 

sexual predator who repeatedly harassed her throughout middle school and high school. Id. She 

now actually accused him of “sexual assault” for the sophomore year bus incident. Id. Specifically, 

she wrote in her affidavit: “Late in our sophomore year, I asked Chad to have a talk with me.  He 

agreed to do so, I told him that he was not allowed to touch me ever again.  Chad said ‘ok’ in 

response.  However, he then immediately grabbed my breast.  I considered it to be sexual assault.” 

Id. 

98. Sline’s affidavit is false. 

99. Sline’s affidavit is self-contradictory.  For instance, she writes that it was “[l]ate in 

[her] sophomore year,” that Readey “grabbed” her breast. Id. Late in Sline’s sophomore year 

would mean spring of 2019. But per Sline’s own interview notes with HF, she alleged Readey 

touched (not grabbed) her breast in December 2018 when she was flirting with him. It also 

contradicts the statements she made to HF at the time.   

100. Prior to Sline filing her (false) affidavit, Readey had not named her as a defendant 

in his lawsuit.     

101. But on December 14, 2022, because Sline chose to insert herself in the defamation 

action by providing a false affidavit to the defendants, Readey’s lawyers informed her they planned 
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to add her as a party by December 30, 2022. In response, Sline’s mother asked for an additional 

week to obtain an attorney. 

102. Readey’s counsel in good faith allowed such an extension on the condition that it 

be memorialized in writing, so as to allow them to maintain the legal action against Sline before 

the statutory cutoff. Exhibit 13. 

103. But instead of responding to Readey’s lawyers’ outreach, Sline was working with 

Defendant Holder and her law firm to defame Readey. 

Defendant’s First Defamatory Campaign Against Readey 

104. On December 29, 2022, Holder filed her lawsuit for Sline as “Jane Doe” against 

Readey alleging two counts: (a) Gender Violence, and (b) Intentional Infliction of Emotional 

Distress.  Exhibit 14. 

105. Sline’s lawsuit is frivolous. 

106. In her lawsuit, Sline stated falsehoods such as: 

• “on or about the Fall 2019 – Spring 2020 school year, at least six (6) 

Homewood-Flossmoor High School student reported to the Dean’s office 

that the defendant in this case, classmate Chad Readey  was engaging in 

sexually abusive conduct towards them.” Id. at ¶ 4. 

 

• “she had been sexually harassed and sexually assaulted by him for 

years, beginning when they were both students at Parker Junior High 

School, beginning on or about Fall 2015 – Spring 2016.”  Id. at ¶ 5. 

 

• “Ms. Doe told officials that Chad Readey habitually sexually 

harassed her and touched her without her consent over the course of several 

years.”  Id at ¶ 8. 

 

• “While in high school, Ms. Doe never expressed a romantic or sexual 

interest in Chad Readey, nor did she spend time with him outside of 

group, social events.” Id. at ¶ 27. 

 

• Sline told high school officials “that Chad Readey had sexually harassed 

her for years.” Id. at ¶ 37. 

 

Together the “Sline False Statements.”  
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107. False statements made in a filed complaint are privileged. 

108. But false statements made in a filed complaint that the filing lawyer then re-

publishes outside of court are not privileged.  Missner v. Clifford, 393 Ill. App. 3d 751 (2009). 

109. After filing her lawsuit, Holder republished the Sline False Statements outside of 

court. 

110. Specifically, Holder republished the Sline False Statements on her law firm’s 

website.  Exhibit 15. 

111. Holder also republished the Sline False Statements through tweets on her personal 

social media accounts.  Exhibit 16. 

112. Holder’s intentional and painstaking curation in smearing Plaintiff’s name across 

social media is shown by her editing one of her Twitter posts – which named Plaintiff and 

referenced the lawsuit – more than 30 times. Exhibit 17. 

113. Holder’s posts on her social media accounts also influenced and triggered further 

media coverage of her vicious lies against Readey. Exhibit 18. 

114. Holder also republished the Sline False Statements in news articles discussing the 

complaint she filed, such as in a January 6, 2023 article in Patch titled: “Gender Violence Lawsuit 

– HFHS Grad Sues Northwestern’s Readey.”  Exhibit 19.  In the Patch article, after identifying 

Readey as the baseball player, Holder stated: "This is a complaint that seeks to end the toxic pattern 

in America where star student-athletes get to hide behind their elite schools and proud parents as 

they sexually abuse women, then intimidate and fight them when they speak out." Id. Holder was 

additionally quoted in a Deadspin article titled: “Northwestern baseball player sued for intentional 

infliction of emotional distress, violation of Gender Violence Act”. Exhibit 20. 

115. In Holder’s republication of the Sline False Statements, Holder even published 

more things than what the Sline complaint contained. For instance, she included pictures of 

Readey.  Exhibits 15-16. 
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116. On information and belief, Holder and agents of her law firm circulated the 

complaint to media outlets. 

117. On information and belief, Holder and agents of her law firm contacted reporters 

and provided quotes “off the record” to reporters so they would print articles about her lawsuit but 

not quote her. 

118.  Holder did so because she is obsessed with promoting her career, as her 

advertisements make clear.  Here is one recent ad of hers seeking media attention: 
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119. Holder was presumably later informed by a lawyer that her republications were 

defamatory and not privileged because within two months of her postings, Holder and her law firm 

removed their postings (despite maintaining all other postings dating back to January of 2019).  

120. Ultimately, the lawsuit Holder filed for Sline was dismissed on August 14, 2023 

for “want of prosecution.”  Exhibit 2. 

Readey and Doe Relationship 

121. Readey and Doe both entered NU as freshman athletes in September 2021.  Readey 

was on the baseball team and Doe the lacrosse team. 

122. Readey and Doe met at a party early freshman year at which Doe – within half an 

hour of meeting him – attempted to kiss Readey. When he rejected her attempts, Doe – a self-

identifying bisexual – said “you must be gay” for not kissing her. Nevertheless, Doe and Readey 

quickly developed a friendship lasting throughout their freshman year. 

123. Doe persisted in her romantic gestures and attraction towards Readey throughout 

their freshman year. When Readey advised he had a girlfriend, Doe proposed that he breakup and 

date her instead. 

124. After Doe then began a relationship with a girlfriend, Doe still made unsolicited 

offers for Readey (and even his then-girlfriend) to join in sexual threesomes and foursomes. 

Readey always laughed off these overtures and maintained a platonic friendship with Doe, but he 

lessened his encounters with her seeking to maintain some boundaries and distance. 

125. As their limited text history shows, Readey did not maintain a close friendship with 

Doe.  Exhibit 4.   

126. In the summer after their freshman year, Doe came back to NU’s campus in July 

2022 for a lacrosse camp. 

127. Readey had been living close to campus in Evanston for the summer as he rehabbed 

from recent surgery. 
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128. On the night of July 18, 2022, with both together on campus, Doe invited Readey 

over at 9:35 PM to watch a movie. Id. But Readey was already out with friends, so he politely 

declined. Id. 

129. Doe was persistent, however, and she proceeded to text Readey another four times, 

specifically inviting him to come over, which solicitations extended late into the night.  Her texts 

even included a picture of herself lying on the bed.  Id. 

130. Eventually, Readey obliged and headed over for what he thought was to watch a 

movie with a friend and classmate who was only in town for a few days before she headed back to 

her home in Florida. 

131. At the time, Readey was still recovering from recent elbow surgery, so he lacked 

his normal strength and mobility. 

132. Readey was also then happily in a committed relationship with his girlfriend and 

had maintained a purely platonic friendship with Doe up to that point. 

133. But shortly after Plaintiff arrived, Doe climbed on top of him and whispered, “this 

stays between us,” before she initiated sexual contact. 

134. While Readey did not halt Doe’s sudden, unsolicited, and unexpected romantic 

overtures, had it not been for Doe’s aggressive initiation, it never would have happened. 

135. The romantic encounter initiated by Doe was brief, lasting less than an hour. 

136. Though ambushed by Doe, Readey was immediately disappointed with himself 

afterward for not resisting Doe and regretted being disloyal to his girlfriend. 

137. A few hours later, at 4:47 am, Doe initiated another text exchange with Readey: 

 Doe: “That was a fucked up mistake and I told [my girlfriend], just giving u a 

 heads up.  I should’ve never given you the idea that that was ok I genuinely have 

 never regretted anything more in my life.  You don’t have to tell [your girlfriend] 

 but just letting u know I told my girlfriend.” Id. 

 

 Readey: “I talked to [my girlfriend].”  Id. 
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 Doe: “ok well it’s fucked and tell [your girlfriend] I’m so sorry and I don’t know 

 whether it’s bc I was a weird high or just super anxious but I’m so fucking sorry.” 

 Id. 

 

138. As Doe’s texts to Readey immediately afterward make clear, she initiated their 

sexual encounter, said it was her idea, and apologized to Readey for it.   

139. Because of her indiscretion, Doe’s girlfriend immediately terminated their 

relationship and later attempts to reconcile were short lived. 

140. Hooking up with Readey effectively cost Doe her relationship with her girlfriend. 

141. In contrast, Plaintiff worked things out with his girlfriend. 

142. Enraged by the fact she was now single, Doe immediately lashed out at Readey 

writing him the next day that “you get to have your happy relationship.”  Id. 

143. Doe sought vengeance. 

144. On information and belief, throughout the Fall 2022 semester (sophomore year), 

Doe struggled with preseason lacrosse conditioning tests and drug issues, resulting in her removal 

from the lacrosse team’s active roster. NU’s website does not list Doe on the 2022-2023 women’s 

lacrosse team. Exhibit 21 

145. In the Fall 2022 semester, at a party where Readey and Doe were both present, 

Doe’s lacrosse teammates informed Readey that she was snorting lines of cocaine and threatening 

to make up allegations of sexual assault against him. After her teammates emphasized to her that 

doing so was not acceptable, Doe simply shrugged her shoulders and with a smug smile on her 

face headed outside to campus bars. 

146. For months throughout the following Fall and Winter quarters, Doe harassed and 

attacked Plaintiff’s girlfriend through Snapchat messages in an ongoing effort to sabotage his 

relationship, so his relationship could end like hers had. Exhibit 21. 
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147. Doe also harassed Readey whenever they crossed paths, and spread the ugly, false 

narrative to her former teammates and other NU student-athletes that Plaintiff sexually assaulted 

her. 

Holder Begins to Work with Doe to further Defame and Destroy Readey 

148. On January 7, 2023, a week after Holder filed her lawsuit for Sline against Readey, 

Holder posted on her Instagram account a screenshot of her firm’s defamatory posting against 

Readey.  

149. Shortly thereafter, Doe then re-posted it on her own account with the caption: 

“finally got what you deserve, a terrible embarrassment of a person.” Exhibit 22. 

150. It is unclear whether Holder found Doe as a client or Doe found Holder as a lawyer, 

but either way, they soon became partners. 

151. On January 10, 2023, three days after Doe re-posted Holder’s article, Doe emailed 

the NU Athletic Director (“AD”) and alleged sexual assault against Readey. 

152. Six months had passed since she had invited Readey over and initiated her sexual 

encounter with him, and now – three days after seeing and reposting Holder’s message with an 

ugly message – Doe decided to file a complaint against Readey. 

153. When Doe wrote the AD, she made clear her goal was to get Readey kicked off the 

baseball team, but that she does “not wish to formally report what Chad Readey has done to me.” 

Doe even referenced Holder’s recent “legal action” against Readey as further support or basis for 

NU to discipline him. Said differently, Doe was trying to link Holder’s lawsuit for Sline to her 

delayed complaint against Readey. 

154. On January 26, 2023, Doe again reached out to the NU Athletic Director and 

emphasized her desire to have Readey removed from NU athletics. 
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155. Shortly after that, Doe and Readey crossed paths on campus, which prompted her 

to say to him, “have you been kicked off the baseball team yet?” She then added: “maybe you can 

choke and die instead.” 

156. Meanwhile, Doe was not playing lacrosse, and her former teammates were 

beginning a season that would result in them being crowned national champions. 

157. In the days and weeks following Doe’s January 26, 2023 email, the NU Title IX 

office made several attempts to schedule a meeting with Doe, but were met with repeated last-

minute cancellations by her. 

158. Then, on March 3, 2023, Doe – after a month of Title IX meeting cancellations – 

withdrew her complaint against Readey writing to NU’s Title IX office: “I’ve decided to not go 

any further with this report on Chad Readey.” 

159. But then, on May 15, 2023, more than two months after Doe had withdrawn her 

complaint – and just as she watched her former lacrosse teammates begin rolling through the 

NCAA tournament on their way to a national championship – she re-initiated her Title IX 

complaint writing to the office: “I am emailing because I am now ready to try again to have the 

intake meeting related to my Title IX complaint against Chad Readey.  Thank you for your patience 

as I work through the trauma of my sexual assault.  Can you please give me the next steps and also 

how the investigation will be handled?  Also, am I allowed to have someone with me?” 

160. NU diligently and immediately then proceeded with processing Doe’s revitalized 

complaint. 

161. As her case was reopened at her asking, Doe was now being coached on processing 

her false complaint.  Holder was now providing her direction and was listed as her authorized 

“advisor” to accompany her during NU interviews. 

162. During her preliminary Title IX interview in mid-June, Doe first raised the desire 

to seek “medical retirement” as a result of “trauma” induced by Plaintiff from her fabricated 
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allegations.  Opportunistically this might allow Doe to remain on athletic scholarship despite not 

being on the active roster throughout the 2022-2023 season. 

163. Once Holder got involved, Doe’s (false) account of what transpired with Readey 

also suddenly become more detailed and more comprehensive and now included claims of sexual 

harassment, sexual assault, sexual battery, rape, and stalking. 

164. Doe never provided NU investigators with her text exchanges with Readey showing 

that she initiated the sexual contact with Readey and apologized to him for doing so. 

165. Holder was now leveraging her two clients – Sline and Doe – and weaponizing 

prior falsehoods in an attempt to provide Doe newfound leverage. 

166. Doe’s Title IX case has now advanced to the formal investigation stage, with her 

and Holder taking part in multiple investigative interviews during the first week of August 2023. 

167. But Holder could not wait any longer.  She smelled blood in the water from recent 

national headlines regarding NU’s alleged football hazing – and reports of the NU baseball 

program’s “toxic environment” – with a noticeable media backdrop of sexual misconduct. 

Holder Files Lawsuit 2 Defaming Readey 

168. On August 9, 2023, before even exhausting the Title IX administrative process Doe 

had just begun – and without making any attempt to share documentation that might support her 

claim with investigators – Holder filed a lawsuit for Doe against NU. Exhibit 3. 

169. Holder’s latest lawsuit coincided with her unveiling her first billboards in Chicago 

that boldly boasted she is a “Women’s Rights & Sexual Abuse Attorney.” Exhibit 23. 

170. Though Holder sued NU – not Readey – her complaint named Readey 21 times and 

repeated six times the falsehood that Readey has a “documented history” of sexual assaults, and 

again falsely portrayed him as a “sexual predator” (the “Doe False Statements,” and together with 

the Sline False Statements, the “False Statements”). Exhibit 3. 
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171. Consistent with her prior practices, Holder also then immediately promoted and re-

published the Doe False Statements through her firm’s website and her personal social media 

accounts, including: 

• Falsely republishing on her social media accounts that Readey – “a baseball player” – 

assaulted multiple women and “admitted to the action in writing school officials.”  

Exhibit 24.  In so doing, Holder conflated Sline’s false claims with Doe’s false claims, 

further placing Readey in a false light with the public. 

• On her law firm website, she posted the complaint referencing Readey.  Exhibit 25.  

• On information and belief, Holder and members of her law firm sent the Doe complaint to 

reporters and media outlets and provided quotes and information “off the record” in an 

attempt to shield Holder and her firm from liability for defamation and other torts. 

COUNT I 

Defamation Per Se 

(ALL DEFENDANTS) 

172. Plaintiff re-asserts, re-pleads, and incorporates by reference all allegations listed 

above as if fully set forth herein. 

173. Defendants falsely stated and inferred that Plaintiff has a documented history of 

being accused of, and having admitted to, “sexual assault or sexual abuse” of multiple girls and/or 

women, as identified in the False Statements. 

174. Defendants falsely stated and inferred that Plaintiff “committed sexual violence 

against young women,” as identified in the False Statements. 

175. Defendants falsely stated and inferred that Plaintiff was a “sexual predator,” as 

identified in the False Statements. 

176. Defendants, without privilege or permission to do so, repeated the False Statements 

to third parties, including, but not limited to, indeterminate numbers of persons via internet and 

social media postings, and comments made and posted to media outlets. 
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177. Plaintiff was severely harmed by Defendants’ publication of the False Statements, 

including, but not limited to, damage and injury to his character and reputation in his current peer 

community and prospective professional community, as well as a diminishment of his future 

prospects for Name, Image, and Likeness opportunities as a student-athlete.  

178. Defendants’ False Statements accuse Plaintiff of having committed multiple 

crimes. 

179. Defendants’ False Statements prejudice Plaintiff in his school community. 

180. Defendants’ False Statements falsely accuse Plaintiff of fornication. 

181. Defendants’ publication of the False Statements has made, and continues to make, 

Plaintiff the victim of scorn, derision, and outcast by his peers and other acquaintances, causing 

injury to Plaintiff’s emotional, physical, social, and academic wellbeing both now and in the future. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, Chad Readey, seeks judgment against Defendants, and each of 

them, in an amount in excess of $50,000, and for all Defendants to be immediately and 

permanently enjoined from making, publishing, or republishing, false and defamatory statements 

against Plaintiff. 

COUNT II 

False Light 

(ALL DEFENDANTS) 

 

182. Plaintiff re-asserts, re-pleads, and incorporates by reference all allegations 

contained above as if fully set forth herein. 

183. Defendants made and published to third parties, without privilege, their False 

Statements that assert and accuse Plaintiff of vile and serial criminal and sexual conduct, placing 

Plaintiff in a false light before the public. 

184. Defendants’ False Statements accusing Plaintiff of vile and serial criminal and 

sexual conduct, stating or implying likelihood of future harm to others, are highly offensive and 
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injurious to Plaintiff’s past, current, and future character, reputation and stature in the community, 

and by their nature, would be highly offensive to any reasonable person. 

185. Defendants’ False Statements have caused special damage to Plaintiff as will be 

proved and established at the trial of this action. 

186. Defendants made and issued their False Statements with malice in an effort to 

destroy Plaintiff and further their own personal business opportunities. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, Chad Readey, by and through his attorneys, seeks judgment 

against All Defendants, and each of them, in an amount in excess of $50,000, and for All 

Defendants to be immediately and permanently enjoined from making, publishing, or republishing, 

false and defamatory statements against Plaintiff. 

JURY DEMAND 

Plaintiff herein demands a trial by jury of all triable issues in the present matter. 

Dated: New York, New York 

 August 28, 2023 

 

    Respectfully submitted, 

 

      NESENOFF & MILTENBERG, LLP 

      Attorneys for Plaintiff Chad Readey 

                 

      By: /s/ Kristen Mohr   

             Kristen Mohr, Esq.  

                   363 Seventh Avenue, Fifth Floor 

                    New York, New York 10001  

             (212) 736-4500 

             kmohr@nmllplaw.com 

       

      ELVIS GONZALEZ, LTD. 

      Attorneys for Plaintiff Chad Readey 

                 

      By: /s/ Elvis Gonzalez   

             Elvis Gonzalez, Esq.  

                   Willis Tower 

                    233 South Wacker Drive, Suite 6149 

             Chicago, Illinois 60606 

             (312) 558-9779 

             egonzalez@elvisgonzalezltd.com 
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FILED
8/28/2023 3:51 PM
IRIS Y. MARTINEZ
CIRCUIT CLERK
COOK COUNTY, IL
2023L008661
Calendar, H
24146890
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Community Corner

Gender Violence Lawsuit:
HFHS Grad Sues
Northwestern's Readey
After the college baseball player led a
defamation suit, a former classmate is
suing, citing intentional in iction of
distress.

Lauren Traut, Patch Staff

Posted Fri, Jan 6, 2023 at 5:16 pm CT
Updated Sat, Jan 7, 2023 at 10:29 am CTADVERTISEMENT

 Sign up

Homewood-Flossmoor, IL  Subscribe

News Feed Neighbor Posts Local Businesses Events
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 Replies (6)

A HFHS grad is suing a former classmate claiming
violation of Illinois Gender Violence Act and
intentional in iction of emotional distress. (Courtesy
of Homewood-Flossmoor High School )

FLOSSMOOR, IL — A former

Homewood-Flossmoor High SchoolADVERTISEMENT
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female student is suing a former male

classmate alleging intentional

infliction of emotional distress tied to

what she says are incidents of sexual

harassment and abuse during their

time at the school. The allegations

became public as he committed to

playing baseball at Northwestern

University.
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The player—Chad Readey, of

Flossmoor—has also filed a

defamation lawsuit against several

classmates who took to the

university's social media to hint at

similar allegations made against

Readey by other students during his

time at the suburban high school.

The female student—named in the

lawsuit as only Jane Doe—alleges

Readey violated the Illinois Gender
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Violence Act, in addition to the claim

of intentional emotional distress.

Find out what's happening in Homewood-
Flossmoorwith free, real-time updates from

Patch.

Your email address

Doe's lawsuit claims Readey has

attempted to "intimidate" Doe and

her parents with threats to name her

as a defendant in his defamation

lawsuit.

Subscribe
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Doe's lawsuit alleges that during

their time as classmates at both

Parker Junior High and later

Homewood-Flossmoor High School,

Readey "habitually sexually harassed

her and touched her without her

consent. "
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The female student's claims date

back to 2015, alleging incidents of

inappropriate and non-consensual

sexual touching by Readey over the

course of several years, including

unwanted touching of her thighs and

ADVERTISEMENT
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buttocks. Readey would also ask Doe

to send him “nudes” via Snapchat,

the complaint alleges, with Doe

denying all of his requests and telling

her parents.

The incidents escalated, Doe claims,

with Readey later reportedly grabbing

her breast over her clothing while on

the school bus during their

sophomore year, 2018–2019—after

Doe recalls telling him, "You are not

allowed to touch me."
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Doe did not report the incidents to

school officials, but was later called

to the school office after Homewood-

Flossmoor High School opened an

investigation, following multiple

female students’ complaints accusing

Readey of sexual misconduct. She

issued a statement to the school

regarding her interactions with

ADVERTISEMENT
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Readey; Readey later admitted to

"touching" Doe's breast, which

officials disclosed in a letter to his

parents.

In his defamation suit, Readey

admitted to touching Doe, but

claimed he “(believed) the touching

was not unwelcome.”

Homewood-Flossmoor High School

at the time closed the investigation

without disciplinary action against

Readey, noting in a letter that "none

of the incidents that were reported
ADVERTISEMENT
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were considered sexual harrassment

or assault."

The lawsuit also details other

instances of alleged abuse by Readey

during class in the Fall of 2018 and

Spring of 2019. Doe’s lawsuit alleges

Readey allegedly asked to “finger”

her, and "then pulled her hand on his

genitals, outside of his pants.”

Readey also reportedly unzipped her

hoodie without consent to “see if she

was wearing anything underneath.”
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Homewood-Flossmoor District 233

Superintendent Scott Wakeley on Jan.

5, 2023 declined to comment on Doe's

lawsuit, saying only, "the school is

not a party to the lawsuit, and we do

not comment on student matters of

this nature."

Claims Surface Via Social MediaClaims Surface Via Social Media

Readey declared his commitment to

attend Northwestern University in

August 2020, which led to several

former classmates sharing

allegations against him, and directly
ADVERTISEMENT
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emailing Northwestern with their

claims.

"Congrats to someone who’s going to

Northwestern but doesn’t know and

hasn’t learned what consent is," one

wrote on the social media post.

Eight current and former HFHS

students at the time had contacted

Northwestern University with

concerns over the allegations against

Readey. In a letter from school

officials to Readey's parents dated

Sept. 18, 2020, officials said it had

ADVERTISEMENT
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investigated the claims by reviewing

the emails, as well as interviewing

current and former staff members.

The District wrote in the letter that

after its "exhaustive search, the

District has no record that

substantiates the claims made by the

women who contacted

Northwestern."

Readey has since consulted a lawyer

and in September 2022 filed a

defamation suit against those he says

were involved in the social media

chatter. In her lawsuit, Doe saysADVERTISEMENT
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Readey has since threatened to also

name her in his suit, described as an

"attempt to restore his good name

that offers smeared."

Doe's lawyer said her lawsuit is a

"simple case" that attempts to end a

pattern.

"This is a complaint that seeks to end

the toxic pattern in America where

star student-athletes get to hide

behind their elite schools and proud

parents as they sexually abuse

women, then intimidate and fight
ADVERTISEMENT
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them when they speak out," the suit

states.

In a statement issued to Deadspin,

Readey's attorney Victor Henderson

said Readey, "has been the victim of a

vicious, coordinated effort to

assassinate his character based on

falsehoods, eliminate his college

possibilities, and destroy his future."

He added that because the

accusations were made publicly on

social media, "we had no choice but

to pursue legal action to continue to

clear Chad’s name."ADVERTISEMENT
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Doe’s attorney Tamara N. Holder said

she intends to depose school officials

who handled the allegations against

Readey, adding that by not taking

disciplinary measures, they

"perpetuated the harm.

"We believe that had they taken

proper action, that it would have

stopped at that point," Holder said.

"The school sitting in the place of the

parent, they had the authority and

ability to properly punish him, and

ADVERTISEMENT

ADVERTISEMENT
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they did not, which allowed him to

perpetuate the harm."

The school's alleged mishandling of

the claims creates concern of a firm

definition of sexual harassment or

assault, Holder said.

"I want to find out how this school

defines sexual harassment by

students," she said.

Holder is seeking damages in excess

of $50,000 for her client.
ADVERTISEMENT
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Readey's attorney is seeking a similar

amount.

Get more local news delivered

straight to your inbox. Sign up for

free Patch newsletters and alerts.

Thank Reply (6) Share

More from Homewood-Flossmoor

Community Corner | 4h

A mission well served

Arts & Entertainment | 18h

   
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Northwestern baseball player 
sued for intentional infliction 
of emotional distress, 
violation of Gender Violence 
Act [Updated] 
Lawsuit accuses Chad Readey of using defamation suit to harass and intimidate 
his accusers 
By 

Julie DiCaro 

PublishedYesterday 4:30PM 

Alerts 

 
Chad ReadeyPhoto: Twitter/Northwestern Athletics 

A woman filed a lawsuit against Northwestern baseball player Chad Readey, 

alleging violations of the Illinois Gender Violence Act and intentional infliction 

of emotional distress stemming from what she says were incidents of sexual 

harassment and abuse going back to the time the two were students in junior 

high and at Homewood Flossmoor High School in suburban Chicago. 

Allegations of sexual misconduct 
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The woman, who filed the complaint in Cook County, Ill., under the 

pseudonym “Jane Doe,” alleged numerous incidents of inappropriate and non-

consensual sexual touching by Readey over the course of several years, 

including his touching her thighs and buttocks without her consent while the 

pair was still in junior high school. According to the complaint, Readey’s 

behavior worsened on a school bus ride when both students were in high 

school, claiming: 

Related Stories 

Washington Commanders couldn’t even roll out their 
dumb new mascot without botching it 
W. Kamau Bell on Michael Jordan and privilege 
IDIOT OF THE YEAR No. 8: Daniel Snyder 
“Ms. Doe stated that, during their sophomore year, on or about Fall 2018 – 

Spring 2019, when she was just 15-years old, she clearly instructed Chad 

Readey to stop touching her. In response, he grabbed her breast without her 

consent. Ms. Doe told Homewood-Flossmoor officials that she believed this 

conduct was sexual assault.” 

While Doe did not report Readey’s alleged behavior to school officials, the 

lawsuit claims she did speak about his “hypersexualized” interactions with her, 

which left her “uncomfortable and scared,” to friends and family. However, as 

the suit goes on to allege, when Doe was a high school student, officials at 

HFHS summoned her to the office, telling her that an investigation into 

Readey’s behavior had been opened after eight current and former students 

made social media allegations claiming that Readey had a history of sexual 

harassment and assault of other students. 
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Alpha Heat 

 

 

Seniors Under 86 Years Of Age Get Up To $250k in Life Insurance for $18/month 
Smart Lifestyle Trends 

Deadspin was able to verify a letter from HFHS to Readey’s parents dated 

Sept. 18, 2020, which states: 

“As you are aware, eight former and current students made social media posts 

directed at Northwestern alleging your son, [Readey], has a history of sexual 

assault and sexual harassment that has been reported to HFHS District No, 

233, but has not been addressed.” 

The letter goes on to lay out the reasons the school found no evidence of 

misconduct by Readey, reading in part: 

“(T)wo years prior, during [Readey’s] sophomore year, [Readey] allegedly 

touched a female student’s breast over her clothing on a school bus. The 

student did not report the incident when it happened, but did report the 

incident nearly a year later to a teacher who then met with the student and her 

school counselor. At the time, the student told the teacher and counselor that 

the issue had been resolved a year ago and that she did not want further 

investigation into the matter as there had been no further incidents or 

concerns related to this student. During the IB investigation in 2019 2020 
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(sic), the allegation of [Readey] touching a woman’s breast over her clothing 

during her sophomore year was raised by one of the IB women who was a 

friend of the woman involved, The woman involved was not an IB student and 

was not automatically part of the investigation, but was called into make a 

statement about the bus incident and [Readey] was given an opportunity to 

respond. [Readey] admitted to touching the student’s breast over her clothing 

during a lapse of judgement (sic) while they were riding a shuttle bus together, 

and when she objected to him touching her, he stopped and there have been 

no further incidents in the past two years.” 

HFHS then closed the investigation without taking disciplinary action against 

Readey. 

However, Doe’s complaint sets forth multiple instances of alleged abuse by 

Readey during their Drivers’ Education class together in the Fall of 2018 and 

Spring of 2019, including Readey asking to “finger” her, Readey grabbing a 

pencil out of her hand and pulling her hand onto his genitals, and Readey 

unzipping her hoodie without consent to “see if she was wearing anything 

underneath.” Doe claims she finally summoned the courage to stand up to 

Readey on the school bus, telling him, “You are not allowed to touch me. In 

response, the complaint alleges that Readey said, “Okay,” and then proceeded 

to grab Doe’s breast over her clothing and without her consent. 

Readey’s defamation lawsuit 

After students began posting about allegations against Readey on social 

media and directly emailing Northwestern, Readey hired an attorney to 

respond to their claims. The lawsuit alleges that the lawyers “sent threatening 

letters to [Readey’s] classmates, demanding retractions.” Per the lawsuit, Doe 

did not participate in the social media campaign against Readey, but received 

notice on December 14, 2022, that Readey intended to name her as a 
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defendant in a defamation lawsuit he filed in Cook County, presumably due to 

her cooperation with HFHS in the investigation into the allegations against 

Readey. Deadspin was able to view the letter from Readey’s attorney 

informing Doe that she was to be added as a defendant to Readey’s defamation 

claim, which was filed in September of 2022. In that lawsuit, Readey alleges 

that multiple students, both named and unnamed, conspired to ruin his 

reputation and his relationship with Northwestern by concocting false 

incidents of sexual harassment and abuse, stating “vicious and demonstrably 

false statements were made about Readey; namely, that he committed 

‘multiple sexual assaults,’ when in fact there were none.” 

The woman’s complaint alleges that “despite admitting to sexually assaulting 

Ms. Doe — both to the school, as well as in his own defamation complaint 

against others — Chad Readey has now returned, years later, to intimidate Ms. 

Doe and her parents via his lawyers, with threat to add her as a defendant to 

his defamation lawsuit.” 

“We look forward to deposing Homewood-Flossmoor officials to find out how 

they define consent, and why the school chose not to punish its star athlete 

despite complaints from numerous female students,” Tamara Holden, Doe’s 

attorney, told Deadspin. 

“Ultimately, we intend to shine a light on how young women are silenced at an 

early age and how schools are complicit in sexual violence against young 

women.” 

Deadspin reached out to both Readey’s attorney and Northwestern University 

for comment. At the time of publication, we had not received a response. 

[Update]: After this story went to publication, Northwestern University 

advised Deadspin that the school could not provide comment. 
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Chad Readey’s attorney, Victor Henderson, provided Deadspin with the 

following statement Wednesday evening: 

“For over two years, Chad Readey has been the victim of a vicious, coordinated 

effort to assassinate his character based on falsehoods, eliminate his college 

possibilities, and destroy his future. Lies alleged about Chad have already been 

retracted, and a subsequent investigation concluded there was no merit to any 

accusation against him. Unfortunately, the damage to his reputation remains, 

and these latest fabrications only cause further harm. Since these accusations 

were made publicly and still live on social media, we had no choice but to 

pursue legal action to continue to clear Chad’s name. We will not sit by and 

allow such damaging falsehoods to keep circulating.” 
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THE LAW FIRM OF TAMARA N. HOLDER,
LLC, UNVEILS FIRST BILLBOARD IN
CHICAGO

NEWS PROVIDED BY
The Law Firm of Tamara N. Holder, LLC 
08 Aug, 2023, 09:00 ET



Nationally Recognized Women's Rights and Civil Rights Attorney Debuts New Ad Following
Successful Cases Against Major Corporations

CHICAGO, Aug. 8, 2023 /PRNewswire/ -- Nationally recognized women's rights attorney Tamara
Holder unveiled her rst billboards in Chicago on Friday. The billboard, located on the corner of

N. Clark St and W. Chicago Ave., marks a signi cant milestone for the accomplished Chicago-

based attorney who refuses to be silenced in her pursuit to end sexual abuse, discrimination,

and institutional abuse.

Continue Reading



The billboard marks a signi cant milestone for the accomplished
Chicago-based attorney

Tweet thisfl


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Tamara takes on cases against some of America's largest and most well-known corporations:

Amazon, Allied Security, Ace Hotel, NorthShore University HealthSystem, Twin Peaks

Restaurants, iHeartRadio, Zep, Inc., Blue Bird Bus Corporation, and Republic Services.

Tamara's practice is focused on doctor-patient sexual abuse, sexual harassment and

discrimination in the workplace, and other important women's rights issues.

Tamara Holder’s Billboard on the corner of N. Clark St and W. Chicago Ave in Chicago.




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"I am determined to help women heal," said Tamara Holder. "So many women have been

abused in their workplace, in their doctor's of ce, at a fraternity house...the list goes on. I am

humbled to be able to help women seek the justice and compensation they deserve. I am also
determined to work with corporations to create protections for women in their workplace."

About The Law Firm of Tamara N. Holder, LLC.

Founded in 2005, and based in Chicago, The Law Firm of Tamara N. Holder, LLC., is a boutique

practice focused on women's rights and sexual abuse. Ms. Holder was a progressive legal

analyst on Fox News Channel for nearly a decade. Ms. Holder has testi ed before Congress,
received clemency for convicted felons, and worked with countless individuals throughout her

18+ year career on a variety of civil rights issues. She was recognized by The Chicago Sun Times

as "One of 50 People Who Make Chicago a Better Place."

THE LAW FIRM OF TAMARA N. HOLDER, LLC

917 WASHINGTON BLVD., SUITE 222
CHICAGO

WEBSITE

RUBENSTEIN PUBLIC RELATIONS

CONTACT: JAMES LAMBERT 212-805-3024

JLAMBERT@RUBENSTEINPR.COM

SOURCE The Law Firm of Tamara N. Holder, LLC
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